· 71847.8

1848-8

No. 71842-8-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

TYLER FARRAR-BRECKENRIDGE,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

MAUREEN M. CYR Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

B. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

Tyler Farrar-Breckenridge received ineffective assistance of counsel due to his attorney's failure to move the court to sever unrelated charges of third degree child rape involving different complaining witnesses.

C. ISSUE PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

A defense attorney provides ineffective assistance of counsel if he fails to move the court to sever unrelated charges, the court would likely have granted a severance if one had been requested, and there is a reasonable probability the outcome of the proceeding would have been different. Here, did Mr. Farrar-Breckenridge receive ineffective assistance of counsel, where his attorney failed to request severance of unrelated charges, it is likely the court would have granted a severance if requested, and the outcome of the proceeding would probably have been different had the jury not been allowed to consider inflammatory evidence of unrelated acts of sexual misconduct?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. The charges

The State charged Mr. Farrar-Breckenridge with three counts of third degree rape of a child, RCW 9A.44.079. CP 199. The first two charges arose from an incident that allegedly occurred sometime during November 2012 and involved C.L. CP 199. At that time, C.L. was 15 years old and Mr. Farrar-Breckenridge was 20 years old. CP 199; 2/24/14RP 86. The third charge arose from an incident that allegedly occurred sometime during summer 2011 and involved B.B. CP 199.

B.B. was then 14 years old and Mr. Farrar-Breckenridge was 19 years old. CP 199; 2/24/14RP 86.

Mr. Farrar-Breckenridge's attorney never moved to sever the counts involving C.L. from the count involving B.B., and thus all three charges were tried together in a single trial.

2. Trial testimony

a. Alleged incident involving B.B.

In the summer of 2011, Mr. Farrar-Breckenridge was living in Granite Falls with his parents and younger brother Zach. 2/24/14RP 29. That July, Zach suffered serious injuries in an automobile accident. 2/21/14(a.m.)RP 130. When he came home from the hospital, he slept in a bed downstairs. 2/21/14(a.m.)RP 131-32.

B.B. was also living with her family in Granite Falls that summer. 2/20/14RP 110. One day, she, her older sister Marissa, and a couple of friends, went to Zach's house to visit him and see how he was doing. 2/20/14RP 113; 2/21/14(a.m.)RP 137-40. The group of friends ended up spending the night at Zach and Tyler's house. 2/20/14RP 114, 118; 2/21/14(a.m.)RP 137-40.

B.B. said that everyone else had found a place to sleep downstairs but there was no room for her. 2/20/14RP 158-59. She said

someone told her to go upstairs to sleep in Tyler's room. 2/20/14RP 159. At the beginning of her testimony, B.B. said she could not remember who told her to sleep in Tyler's room, but later while testifying she said it was Zach who told her to do so. 2/20/14RP 159, 194. In response to Zach's suggestion, she went upstairs to sleep in Tyler's room. 2/20/14RP 158-59.

Tyler testified he was in his room watching a movie and trying to go to sleep when B.B. knocked on his door and said there was nowhere to sleep downstairs. 2/24/14RP 58. He told her she could sleep on the floor, which was carpeted, and he gave her a blanket and a pillow. 2/24/14RP 59. But then she tried to get in bed with him, so he asked her to leave. 2/24/14RP 60. She left, looking angry and upset. 2/24/14RP 60. He finished watching the movie and went to sleep. 2/24/14RP 61. He did not have sex with B.B. 2/24/14RP 61.

B.B. remembered very little about that evening but claimed that while she was in Mr. Farrar-Breckenridge's room, he forced her to perform oral sex on him and then they had penile-vaginal intercourse. 2/20/14RP 119. She said she cried and pushed him away, then left the room, saying she had to use the bathroom. 2/20/14RP 119-20. She left some of her clothing, including her bra, behind in Tyler's room.

2/20/14RP 134, 177. When she got downstairs, she woke up either Zach or his friend Jake and told him what had happened, but that person told her "It's O.K. Just go to sleep." 2/20/14RP 172. She said she had to borrow a bra from her friend Savannah the next day. 2/20/14RP 177.

B.B.'s testimony about the event was vague and incomplete. For example, she was unable to say what she had been doing before she went to Tyler's room, or whether he was already in the room when she got there. 2/20/14RP 128, 160. She could not say whether he said anything to her or touched her before the oral sex. 2/20/14RP 129, 161. She could not say how her clothes came off or whether he was wearing all of his clothes. 2/20/14RP 132. She could not say what, if anything, she was wearing when she left the room. 2/20/14RP 134, 169. She could not say whether she went to sleep at all that night, and could not remember leaving the house the next day. 2/20/14RP 134-35.

Mr. Farrar-Breckenridge has a tattoo on his abdomen, which B.B. said she observed during the incident. 2/20/14RP 130. He had posted photos of himself showing the tattoo on his Facebook page, and B.B. was friends with him on Facebook. 2/19/14RP 122, 126; 2/20/14RP 11, 153; 2/24/14RP 47. Also, the tattoo is visible when he

is not wearing a shirt. 2/24/14RP 47-48. B.B.'s older sister Marissa, who had a sexual relationship with Tyler, said he would sometimes walk around her house without a shirt on and B.B. might have seen him without his shirt on at their house. 2/24/14RP 16, 23.

None of the other people who slept over at Zach's house that night could corroborate B.B.'s account of what happened. Zach said he did not tell B.B. to sleep in Tyler's room and never would have told her to do that. 2/21/14(a.m.)RP 142. Both Zach and Jake said they did not remember B.B. coming downstairs, scantily clad, saying she had been raped. They would have remembered that if it had actually happened. 2/20/14RP 50; 2/21/14(a.m.)RP 142. Savannah said she never loaned a bra or any other clothes to B.B. and did not carry an extra bra with her. She and B.B. did not wear the same bra size and B.B. would not have been able to fit into one of her bras. 2/21/14(a.m.)RP 25. Finally, Marissa said that if B.B. had come downstairs that night alleging rape, she would have remembered it. 2/24/14RP 17.

B.B. did not tell anyone her story about having sex with Mr. Farrar-Breckenridge until over a year later, when she was visiting the school counselor for an unrelated reason and said she had been raped.

2/20/14RP 135-37, 180. 197; 2/21/14(a.m.)RP 107, 111. The counselor reported the matter to the police. 2/20/14RP 137; 2/21/14(a.m.)RP 112.

b. Alleged incident involving C.L.

C.L. was a friend of B.B.'s and the sister of Zach's friend Jake. 2/19/14RP 25. She also lived in Granite Falls. 2/19/14RP 21-22.

One night during November 2012, C.L. was at home drinking alcohol with her brother and a friend of the family who was visiting from out of town. 2/19/14RP 32. She became drunk. 2/19/14RP 32-33. Later that night, at around 1 a.m., C.L. went on Facebook and received a message from Mr. Farrar-Breckenridge, who was a Facebook friend of hers. 2/19/14RP 35; Exhibit 10.

That summer, Mr. Farrar-Breckenridge was working the late shift at Boeing and ordinarily did not go to sleep until early in the morning. 2/24/14RP 92, 95-96. That night, he was at home watching a movie and was on Facebook while texting others. 2/24/14RP 89-90. When he noticed C.L. was online on Facebook, he struck up a conversation with her. 2/24/14RP 90; Exhibit 10. He told her he was drinking beer and watching "Revenge of the nerds 2 [sic]," and said, "You should join." Exhibit 10 at 2. C.L. declined, saying she did not feel well and was going to go to bed. Exhibit 10 at 2, 5. The Facebook

conversation, admitted as an exhibit at trial, shows C.L. ended the conversation by saying, "well i'm [sic] gonna go to sleep. goodnight [sic]." Exhibit 10 at 5. Mr. Farrar-Breckenridge responded, "Ok night." Exhibit 10 at 5.

Mr. Farrar-Breckenridge testified he had intended to invite both C.L. and her brother Jake to come over to watch a movie. 2/24/12RP 61-62. He naturally assumed that if C.L. came over she would bring her brother because she never came over without him, and Mr. Farrar-Breckenridge knew she was not allowed to come over alone. 2/24/14RP 61-62. In fact, C.L. did not come over that night and said she was going to go to bed instead. 2/24/14RP 63-65; Exhibit 10 at 5.

C.L. told a different story. She said that even though on the Facebook message she had told Mr. Farrar-Breckenridge she was going to bed, she actually sneaked out of her window and went over to his house. 2/19/14RP 41. She said that once she got there, she drank some beer and then threw up in the kitchen because she had had too much to drink. 2/19/14RP 42-43, 46. As they were cleaning it up, Mr. Farrar-Breckenridge came over to her, wrapped his arms around her and started kissing her. 2/19/14RP 47. She said they went into the living

room, began "making out," and then had penile-vaginal sexual intercourse on the couch. 2/19/14RP 50-51.

C.L. said they then went upstairs to Mr. Farrar-Breckenridge's bedroom and had sexual intercourse.¹ 2/19/14RP 54-56. Again she could not state many details. 2/19/14RP 55. She claimed they had both penile-vaginal intercourse and anal intercourse. 2/19/14RP 56.

C.L. said she might have seen Mr. Farrar-Breckenridge's tattoo while they were having sex but she could not remember. 2/19/14RP 121. In any event, she had seen photos of the tattoo on Facebook before. 2/19/14RP 122.

C.L. did not tell anyone right away her story about having sexual intercourse with Mr. Farrar-Breckenridge. Sometime later, though, while visiting her cousin on Thanksgiving, she told her she had had sexual intercourse with Mr. Farrar-Breckenridge, without providing any details. 2/19/14RP 62, 64; 2/20/14RP 21-24. That same day, she also told her brother Jake. 2/19/14RP 65. About a month later, while C.L., Jake and their mother were talking, Jake hinted that C.L. was no

¹ The State charged Mr. Farrar-Breckenridge with two separate counts of third degree rape of a child based on the alleged act of sexual intercourse with C.L. that occurred on the couch and the alleged act that occurred a short time later in Mr. Farrar-Breckenridge's bedroom. <u>See</u> 2/24/14RP 134 (prosecutor closing argument).

longer a virgin. 2/20/14RP 44, 71-72. Later, when C.L.'s mother asked her about it, C.L. said she had sex with Mr. Farrar-Breckenridge. 2/20/14RP 74-76. Her mother called the police. 2/20/14RP 78.

3. Verdict

Although the jury was instructed it must "decide each count separately,"² it was not instructed that evidence of one crime could not be used to decide guilt for a separate crime. In fact, no limiting instruction at all was provided regarding the other act evidence. The jury found Mr. Farrar-Breckenridge guilty as charged of all three counts of third degree rape of a child. CP 74, 91-93.

² The jury was instructed: "A separate crime is charged in each count. You must decide each count separately. Your verdict on one count should not control your verdict on any other count." CP 99.

E. ARGUMENT

MR. FARRAR-BRECKENRIDGE RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL BECAUSE HIS ATTORNEY DID NOT MOVE TO SEVER UNRELATED CHARGES OF CHILD RAPE

1. A defense attorney provides ineffective assistance of counsel, requiring reversal, if he does not move to sever unrelated charges and the defendant is prejudiced as a result

Although CrR 4.3(a)³ permits two or more offenses of similar character to be joined in a single charging document, "joinder must not be used in such a way as to prejudice a defendant." <u>State v. Ramirez</u>, 46 Wn. App. 223, 226, 730 P.2d 98 (1986). Washington courts recognize that "joinder is inherently prejudicial." <u>Id</u>. Even if multiple charges are properly joined in a single charging document, they must be severed for separate trials whenever "the court determines that severance will promote a fair determination of the defendant's guilt or innocence for each offense." CrR 4.4(b).

³ CrR 4.3(a) provides:

⁽a) Joinder of Offenses. Two or more offenses may be joined in one charging document, with each offense stated in a separate count, when the offenses, whether felonies or misdemeanors or both:

⁽a) Are of the same or similar character, even if not part of a single scheme or plan; or

⁽²⁾ Are based on the same conduct or on a series of acts connected together or constituting parts of a single scheme or plan.

"Severance of charges is important when there is a risk that the jury will use the evidence of one crime to infer the defendant's guilt for another crime or to infer a general criminal disposition." <u>State v.</u> <u>Sutherby</u>, 165 Wn.2d 870, 883, 204 P.3d 916 (2009). Severance is particularly important when the alleged crimes are sexual in nature. <u>Id</u>. at 884 (citing <u>State v. Saltarelli</u>, 98 Wn.2d 358, 363, 655 P.2d 697 (1982)). "In this context there is a recognized danger of prejudice to the defendant *even if the jury is properly instructed to consider the crimes separately.*" <u>Sutherby</u>, 165 Wn.2d at 884. (emphasis added).

Under CrR 4.4(a)⁴, an attorney's failure to make a timely motion for severance amounts to a waiver. But counsel's failure to move to sever may be addressed on appeal in the context of a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. <u>Sutherby</u>, 165 Wn.2d at 883.

⁴ CrR 4.4(a) provides:

(a) Timeliness of Motion--Waiver.

(1) A defendant's motion for severance of offenses or defendants must be made before trial, except that a motion for severance may be made before or at the close of all the evidence if the interests of justice require. Severance is waived if the motion is not made at the appropriate time.

(2) If a defendant's pretrial motion for severance was overruled he may renew the motion on the same ground before or at the close of all the evidence. Severance is waived by failure to renew the motion. To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, the defendant must show that (1) defense counsel's representation was deficient in that it fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and (2) the deficient performance resulted in prejudice. <u>Strickland v.</u> <u>Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984); <u>State v. McFarland</u>, 127 Wn.2d 322, 334-35, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995); U.S. Const. amend. VI. The Court presumes counsel was effective and the defendant must show there was no legitimate strategic or tactical reason for counsel's action. <u>McFarland</u>, 127 Wn.2d at 335.

Counsel's failure to move to sever multiple charges amounts to ineffective assistance of counsel that requires reversal if there was no legitimate tactical reason for counsel's failure to act, and the defendant was prejudiced as a result. Sutherby, 165 Wn.2d at 884.

2. Mr. Farrar-Breckenridge's attorney had no legitimate tactical reason not to move to sever

Here, defense counsel had no legitimate tactical reason not to request that the charges involving C.L. be severed from the charge involving B.B. The two alleged incidents were more than a year apart and involved different complaining witnesses. The evidence offered to prove the unrelated charges would not have been admissible in separate trials. Also, the jury was much more likely to convict Mr. Farrar-

Breckenridge of each charge by relying on the other act evidence. Under these circumstances, there was no reasonable basis not to request that the charges be severed.

In Sutherby, the Washington Supreme Court explained that in a prosecution for a sex offense, there can be no legitimate tactical reason not to request severance of unrelated charges if it is possible that the jury will use the other act evidence to infer a general predisposition to commit sex offenses. Sutherby, 165 Wn.2d at 884. Sutherby was charged with first degree child rape and first degree child molestation based on allegations that he raped his young granddaughter, and also with possession of child pornography based on images found on his computer at the time of his arrest. Id. at 875-76. The Supreme Court held that counsel's failure to move for severance of the possession of child pornography counts from the other charges met the deficiency prong of the ineffective assistance of counsel claim because evidence of child pornography would not have been admissible at a separate trial on the other charges. Id. at 884. Moreover, there was no possible advantage to Sutherby in holding a joint trial on all of the charges given the prosecutor's stated intent to argue that the pornography counts showed Sutherby's predisposition to molest children. Id.

Similarly, here, there was no possible advantage to Mr. Farrar-Breckenridge in holding a single trial on all of the charges. If the charges were severed, the evidence of the unrelated acts would not have been admissible at separate trials. Evidence of a defendant's "other crimes, wrongs or acts" is categorically excluded from trial if the only relevance of the evidence is to prove the defendant's character and to show he acted in conformity with that character. <u>State v. Gresham</u>, 173 Wn.2d 405, 420-21, 269 P.3d 207 (2012); ER 404(b).⁵ Other act evidence is admissible only if it is logically relevant to a material issue other than propensity, and the probative value of the evidence outweighs its potential for prejudice. <u>State v. Saltarelli</u>, 98 Wn.2d 358, 361-62, 655 P.2d 697 (1982). The rule is based on the fundamental notion that a defendant must be tried only for e offense charged. Sutherby, 165 Wn.2d at 886-87.

Here, the evidence of the unrelated acts would not have been admissible at a separate trial on the other charge because the evidence

⁵ ER 404(b) provides:

Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident.

was not relevant to any material issue other than propensity. The principal issue at trial for each charge was whether Mr. Farrar-Breckenridge actually had sexual intercourse with each girl, as the ages of the participants was not in dispute. CP 199-200; RCW 9A.44.079.⁶ Evidence that Mr. Farrar-Breckenridge had sexual intercourse with a different girl of a similar age on a completely different occasion was not relevant to any material issue other than to show he had a general predisposition to have sex with under-age girls. Thus, if separate trials on each charge were held, the other act evidence would have been categorically excluded by ER 404(b). <u>Gresham</u>, 173 Wn.2d at 420-21.

Moreover, the jury was likely to infer from the other act evidence that Mr. Farrar-Breckenridge was predisposed to commit sex crimes. The Washington Supreme Court has repeatedly recognized that juries are particularly prone in sex offense cases to draw the impermissible inference from other act evidence that the defendant must be guilty because he has a predisposition toward criminality. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Gresham</u>, 173 Wn.2d at 433 (pointing out that the potential for

⁶ The elements of the crime of third degree rape of a child are that a person has "sexual intercourse with another who is at least fourteen years old but less than sixteen years old and not married to the perpetrator and the perpetrator is at least forty-eight months older than the victim." RCW 9A.44.079.

prejudice from admitting prior acts is "at its highest" in sex offense cases) (quoting <u>Saltarelli</u>, 98 Wn.2d at 363); <u>Sutherby</u>, 165 Wn.2d at 886-87; <u>State v. Coe</u>, 101 Wn.2d 772, 780-81, 684 P.2d 668 (1984). That is because "[o]nce the accused has been characterized as a person of abnormal bent, driven by biological inclination, it seems relatively easy to arrive at the conclusion that he must be guilty, he could not help but be otherwise." <u>Saltarelli</u>, 98 Wn.2d at 363 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

In sum, the other act evidence was inflammatory and prejudicial and would not have been admissible at a separate trial on the unrelated charge. Thus, counsel had no legitimate tactical reason not to request that the charges involving C.L. be severed from the charge involving B.B. The deficiency prong of the ineffective assistance of counsel claim is met. Sutherby, 165 Wn.2d at 884.

3. Reversal is required because there is a reasonable probability that, had counsel requested severance, the trial court would have granted the motion and the outcome of the trial would have been different

To meet the prejudice prong of the ineffective assistance of counsel claim, Mr. Farrar-Breckenridge must show that the trial court would likely have granted a motion for severance if one had been made, and there is a reasonable probability that, had severance been granted, the outcome of the proceeding would have been different. <u>Sutherby</u>, 165 Wn.2d at 884.

.

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