IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

TYLER FARRAR-BRECKENRIDGE,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK K. ROE Prosecuting Attorney

JANICE C. ALBERT Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. COUNSEL PROVIDED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL WHEN HE MADE A REASONABLE STRATEGIC DECISION TO TRY COUNTS INVOLVING TWO VICTIMS TOGETHER, ALLOWING HIM TO ARGUE THAT THIS WAS A VINDICTIVE WITCH HUNT BY TWO GIRLS MAKING FALSE ALLEGATIONS.

Effective assistance of counsel is guaranteed by both the federal and the state constitutions. <u>In re Woods</u>, 154 Wn.2d 400, 420, 114 P.3d 607 (2005); see U.S. Constitution, amendment VI; Washington Constitution, Article I, § 22. The guarantee applies to

all critical stages of the proceedings. <u>State v. Rupe</u>, 108 Wn.2d 734, 741, 743 P.2d 210 (1987).

Reviewing courts presume strongly that that counsel's representation was effective. State v. McFarland, 128 Wn.2d 322, 335, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995); State v. Brett, 126 Wn.2d 136, 198, 892 P.2d 29 (1995). To prevail in an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, the defendant must show both that his counsel's representation was deficient and that the deficiency prejudiced him. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d at 335; State v. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d 222, 225-26, 743 P.2d 816 (1987) (applying the 2-prong test in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984)). An attorney's performance is deficient if it falls below an objective standard of reasonableness; prejudice occurs when, but for the deficient performance, the outcome would have been different. Id. at 334-35.

The defendant must overcome a strong presumption that defense counsel's performance was reasonable. State v. Grier, 171 Wn.2d 17, 33, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011). Counsel's mistake must have been so serious that, in effect, counsel was not functioning as counsel. Id. The threshold for deficient performance is high. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689; State v. Sutherby, 165 Wn.2d 870, 883,

204 P.3d 916 (2009). The defense must show that there was no conceivable strategic or tactical reason for counsel's actions. Grier, 171 Wn.2d at 33.

The defendant also bears the burden of showing a reasonable probability that but for the mistake, the outcome would have been different. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d at 266. If the defendant fails to satisfy either element of the test, his claim fails. State v. Kyllo, 116 Wn.2d 856, 862, 215 P.3d 177 (2009).

The defendant has not shown ineffective assistance because he has not met his burden on either prong.

B. THE DEFENDANT HAS NOT SHOWN DEFICIENT PERFORMANCE BECAUSE THE RECORD SHOWS THAT COUNSEL MADE A LEGITIMATE STRATEGIC DECISION NOT TO SEVER THE COUNTS.

The record shows that trial counsel made a tactical decision to try all three counts together. When a defendant complains about choices that can be characterized as legitimate trial strategy, the reviewing court may not find deficient performance. Grier, 171 Wn.2d 33-44. Only when the defendant can demonstrate that there was no conceivable legitimate tactic has he met his burden. Id. at 33.

Counsel referred to his strategy in his motions in limine. He referred to his strategy at the trial. He elicited testimony supporting his theory. And he argued his theory to the jury. His theory of the case was that BB and CL were colluding to get back at the defendant for his rejection of BB.

In his motions in limine, counsel said CL's mother was on a witch hunt to find people who would come forward to her cause. He described how Tawnya disliked the defendant.

At trial, counsel questioned TL about her own efforts to find a third girl, Savannah, to come forward and testify against the defendant. He questioned CL and BB about their relationship and how close it was. He established a reporting time line that linked CL's first allegations with BB's disclosures. He told the court that he was not going to object to testimony regarding BB's disclosure to CL and said, "I think the Court can see my strategy behind that, why I'm doing that."

Defense's closing argument contained his theory of the case: that both girls were colluding and making up similar and fantastic stories about sexual encounters with the defendant, encounters that never happened. BB claimed to have disclosed to CL in 2011, but disclosed to no one else what had happened until

the fall of 2012. Only then, in the fall of 2012, did CL jump on the bandwagon and begin to disclose a very similar rape.

The record in this case is not silent on counsel's theory. Counsel articulated that CL's mother, too, was on a witch hunt, looking for other possible victims to hold the defendant accountable. Counsel articulated that these charges against his client were the result of collusion by two unreliable girls, one of whom was angry at a perceived slight by the defendant over a year earlier.

Defendant relies on State v. Sutherby, 165 Wn.2d 870, for the proposition that joinder can be particularly prejudicial in sex cases, even when a jury is instructed to consider the charged crimes separately. 165 Wn.2d at 884. But that case is very different from ours. Sutherby was charged with child rape and possession of child pornography. Pretrial, the trial court asked if there would be a motion to sever. The State answered no, claiming that the pornography evidence was admissible in any case as it was probative of Sutherby's sexual motivation. After conviction, Sutherby appealed on the grounds of ineffective assistance.

The Supreme Court overturned Sutherby's convictions. It found that the failure to move to sever was not a reasonable

strategic decision. 165 Wn.2d at 884. There was no possible advantage to a joint trial once the State had announced its intention to use the pornography evidence to show Sutherby's sexual inclination toward children. <u>Id</u>. There was nothing in the record that shows any possible advantage to having the cases tried together.

The present case is entirely different. In this case, there was an advantage to trying the counts together. The record illustrated counsel's strategy. Moreover, the record illustrates the facts on which counsel relied. Both girls told similar stories; both cases relied primarily on the victim's testimony; the timing of the disclosures could be argued to be suspect. Leaving the cases joined gave counsel what he wanted: a motive for the girls' "lies" against his client.

Counsel told the jury to ask themselves why the victims had come forward. That, he said, was the big question, a question that certainly would have been asked in separate trials. By trying the cases together, counsel had a motive to suggest to the jury. He had an argument to answer that question. BB was a woman scorned and CL was helping her get revenge on the defendant.

One need not speculate about counsel's reasoning. Counsel made clear on the record what his tactic was.

The present case is unlike <u>Sutherby</u> in another important way. There, the State argued that the pornography showed the defendant's motives and that he was a predator who raped children. 165 Wn.2d at 876. In this case, the State did not suggest or argue that evidence of one rape showed a propensity to commit another. The jury was instructed properly instructed that it was to consider both counts separately.

In <u>Sutherby</u>, the court found no indication of any possible advantage to a joint trial. <u>Id</u>. at 884. In the present case, the perceived advantages exist in the record. The defendant has not shown that he was deprived of counsel when his attorney developed a theory of the case that was assisted by having two victims, each of whose testimony made the other less reliable.

Because the defendant has not shown the lack of a reasonable legitimate tactic, his argument fails and his conviction should be affirmed. The court need not address the other prong.

C. THE DEFENDANT HAS NOT SHOWN A REASONABLE PROBABILITY THAT A MOTION TO SEVER WOULD BE GRANTED.

To show prejudice from his counsel's performance, this defendant must show both that a motion to sever would have been granted and that, had it been granted, there is a reasonable probability the jury would not have found him guilty. See Sutherby, 165 Wn.2d at 884. Having failed to show that this was not a tactical decision, the court need not consider the second prong of the Strickland test. However, the defendant cannot show prejudice because a motion to sever probably would not have been granted.

The motion to sever likely would not have been granted because the offenses were properly joined. Multiple offenses may be joined in one charging document when they are "of the same or similar character, even if not part of a single scheme or plan." CrR 4.3(a). Washington has a 'liberal joinder rule' and separate trials are not favored. The rule on joinder is expansive to conserve judicial and prosecutorial resources. See State v. Bryant, 89 Wn. App. 857, 865, 950 P.2d 1004 (1998), review denied, 137 Wn.2d 1017 (1999). Failure to properly join cases wastes judicial resources. State v. Bythrow, 114 Wn.2d 713, 718, 790 P.2d 154 (1990). Properly joined offenses should stay joined for trial unless

the defendant can show that a joint trial would be so prejudicial that it would outweigh the concern for judicial economy. <u>Id</u>.

Joinder in sex cases is particularly prejudicial in sex cases. Sutherby, 165 Wn.2d at 884. However, inherent prejudice can be offset by certain factors, none of which is which more important than the others: (1) the strength of evidence on each count; (2) the clarity of defenses on each; (3) court instructions; and (4) cross-admissibility of evidence. State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 63, 882 P.2d 747 (1994), cert. denied, 614 US 1129 (1995). Severance is not required simply because evidence on separate counts may not be cross-admissible; the burden is on the defendant to show prejudice. Bythrow, 114 Wn.2d at 721.

1. The Counts Should Not Have Been Severed Because Evidence On Each Count Was Similarly Strong.

The State's evidence on the rapes of CL and the rape of BB was similarly strong. Both victims testified about a sexual assault. Both disclosed to each other within weeks or months of the rapes. Both disclosed to the police and personnel at Dawson Place. Both were subject to inconclusive sexual assault examinations.

In <u>State v. MacDonald</u>, 122 Wn. App. 804, 807, 95 P.3d 1248 (2004), Division III discussed denial of a severance motion after reversing a case for prosecutorial misconduct. MacDonald had been convicted of two counts of rape in a joint trial. The court reversed his convictions because impeachment evidence about one of the victims had been withheld. On that count, there was no physical evidence of the rapes, only testimony. In the next trial when the impeachment would be available, the evidence on one count became significantly weaker than on the other. When one case is remarkably stronger, severance is proper. <u>Id.</u> at 815, <u>citing</u> Russell, 125 Wn.2d at 63-64.

Our case is entirely different because there is virtually no difference in the strength of the cases. Each count was based primarily on the victim's testimony. Unlike MacDonald, there was no evidence suppressed that, if admitted, would make one count significantly weaker than the other.

On the other hand, in <u>State v. Kalakosky</u>, 121 Wn.2d 525, 536, 852 P.2d 1064 (1994), the Supreme Court affirmed the denial of a severance motion on five counts of rape/attempted rape. The evidence available on each count of rape was similar in nature. In the first, a man in a ski mask armed with a gun and a knife

kidnapped a 13-year old, taped her up, and raped her. In the second, a man in a ski mask kidnapped a girl at gunpoint, bound her, and raped her. In the third, a man in a ski mask and armed with a gun broke into the victim's home, taped her up, raped her, and threatened to shoot her baby. In the fourth, a man with a ski mask kidnapped a woman, bound her, and raped her after hitting her with a gun. In the fifth, a man in a ski mask kidnapped a 17-year old, blindfolded her, and raped her in an alley. The evidence was not cross-admissible under ER 404(b), but a joint trial was proper because evidence on each count was similarly strong and a jury would be able to compartmentalize it. Id. at 539.

The same is true in the present case. Evidence of the rapes of CL and BB were virtually identically strong with neither being weaker than the other.

The first factor favors joinder.

2. The Counts Were Properly Joined Because The Defenses On Each Count Were Clear And Not Conflicting.

The defendant concedes that his defenses were clear and not conflicting, a general denial. Appellant's brief, p. 19, footnote 7. Thus, the second factor favors joinder.

3. The Counts Were Properly Joined Because Jury Instructed To Consider Each Count Separately.

The jury was instructed:

A separate crime is charged in each count. You must decide each count separately. Your verdict on one count should not control your verdict on the other count.

WPIC 3.01. This is the proper instruction.

In <u>State v. Bradford</u>, 60 Wn. App. 857, 808 P.2d 174 (1991), the jury was provided with WPIC 3.01. The jury then asked the court whether they could consider knowledge from one count when deliberating on another. The judge told the jury they were free to decide what evidence to use on each count. The Court of Appeals rejected a suggestion that the jury should have instructed further and held that the trial court's response was proper. <u>Id</u>. at 861. The WPIC committee note has suggested that adding language may be a comment on the evidence or be more confusing than helpful.

Discussing this factor In <u>Sutherby</u>, the court noted that although the jury was properly given WPIC 3.01, the State had argued that evidence of the child pornography was evidence of the defendant's sexual desires for children. <u>Id.</u> at 886. The State was thus inviting jurors not to consider the counts separately and

explicitly said that evidence of child pornography was evidence of the defendant's propensity to abuse children.

There was no such invitation in our case. The State made no argument on propensity. The defendant has not and cannot point to any suggestion in the record that evidence of one rape was evidence of the other.

The third factor favors joinder.

4. The Counts Were Properly Joined Despite The Cross-Admissibility Issue.

As discussed above, "the fact that separate counts would not be cross admissible in a separate proceeding does not necessarily represent a sufficient ground to sever as a matter of law". Kalakosky, 121 Wn.2d at 538. When evidence of other crimes is not admissible, the concern is not whether the jury hears the evidence but rather whether the jury can compartmentalize the evidence so evidence of one count does not taint the jury's consideration on another. Bythrow, 114 Wn.2d at 721

In the present case, there was no danger that the jury could not have compartmentalized the evidence. The issues were distinct; the crime occurred a year apart. The trial lasted

only a week. When the issues are relatively simple and the trial lasts a short time, the jury can be reasonably expected to compartmentalize the evidence. Bythrow, 114 Wn.2d at 721.

The fourth factor favors joinder.

5. The Need For Judicial Economy Outweighed Any Prejudice The Defendant Might Have Suffered.

Joint trials are inherently prejudicial but the law still favors them. Bythrow at 713. Only if a defendant can point to specific prejudice has he overcome the need for judicial economy. Id. An even stronger showing of prejudicial effect must be made in a severance motion than in a 404(b) motion to exclude evidence. Id. at 722-23.

The defendant has pointed to no specific prejudice. The need for judicial economy here outweighed any perceived prejudice from a joint trial. This trial lasted a week; two separate trials could have lasted a week each because most witnesses would have been called in both cases.

Zach Farrar was the defendant's brother and lived in the same house with him when the rapes occurred. He was present the night BB was raped; his room was next to the room where the defendant raped CL. He was mentioned in the texts between the

defendant and CL. Cl disclosed to him. He would have testified in both cases.

JL was CL's brother and was there the night BB was raped.

CL disclosed to him. He likely would have been called in both cases.

TL was CL's mother and CL disclosed to her. TL organized an attempt to identify all of the defendant's victims. She was the catalyst for BB's trip to the Granite Falls Police Department. Her so-called "witch hunt" would likely have made her a witness in separate trials.

CL and BB each would have been called to testify in the other's case as they disclosed to each other. CL was also present for at least part of the evening the defendant raped BB.

Separate trials, involving the same witnesses, likely would have taken twice the time as a joint trial. With no specific prejudice, a motion to sever likely would not have been granted.

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